FILED
04-12-2024
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS – DISTRICT II
Case No. 2022AP000161-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DAMIAN L. HAUSCHULTZ,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Megan Sanders
State Bar No. 1097296

WISCONSIN DEFENSE INITIATIVE
411 West Main Street, Suite 204
Madison, WI 53703
megan@widefense.org
(608) 620-4881

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant-
Petitioner

INTRODUCTION

Timothy Hauschultz disciplined his children by forcing them to carry logs around their yard for hours at a time, no matter the weather. He called this punishment “carrying wood.” In April 2018, Tim ordered Damian Hauschultz and two of Damian’s foster siblings to carry wood. But since Tim would be gone for the day, he couldn’t supervise. He delegated that task to Damian, who at 14 was the oldest child in the home.

Damian and his siblings picked up the logs Tim had selected for them and began trekking around their snowy yard. One of Damian’s siblings, Ethan, started to struggle. Under orders to enforce Ethan’s punishment, Damian resorted to increasingly extreme measures to keep him moving. They did not work. Ethan became unresponsive and died of hypothermia later that night.

Damian was interrogated three times—always alone, never with *Miranda*¹ warnings—while Ethan received medical treatment and shortly after he died. Damian moved to suppress the statements he made during these interrogations, arguing that he was entitled to *Miranda* warnings and that his statements were involuntary. The circuit court denied his motion, and the court of appeals affirmed.

The court of appeals was unmoved by the circumstances surrounding Damian’s first two interrogations, concluding that a reasonable 14-year-old would have felt free to end his questioning and leave, and that Damian’s statements were voluntary. It declined to resolve whether Damian was in *Miranda* custody for his third interrogation, holding that most of his statements were duplicative and thus that any error in their admission was harmless.

¹ *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. **Was Damian in *Miranda* custody during any of his three interrogations?**

The circuit court answered “no” across the board. The court of appeals answered “no” as to Damian’s first two interrogations and declined to answer as to his third, invoking harmless error.

2. **Were any of Damian’s interrogation statements involuntary?**

The circuit court again answered “no” across the board. The court of appeals again answered “no” as to Damian’s first two interrogations. It did not address voluntariness as to his third round of statements.

3. **On appeal, the State requested an evidentiary hearing on harmlessness if the court of appeals deemed any of Damian’s statements suppressible. In his reply, Damian acknowledged that two recent, published court of appeals decisions contradict each other on this issue: in *State v. Rejholec*, 2021 WI App 45, ¶¶35 n.14, 398 Wis. 2d 729, 963 N.W.2d 121, the court of appeals remanded for an evidentiary hearing, while in *State v. Abbott*, 2020 WI App 25, ¶¶49-50, 392 Wis. 2d 232, 944 N.W.2d 8, it assessed harmlessness based on the existing record. The question thus remains: is an evidentiary hearing on harmlessness necessary when a defendant seeks plea withdrawal based on the improper denial of a motion to suppress some, but not all, of the State’s evidence?**

This issue was not presented to the circuit court. The court of appeals assessed harmlessness based on the existing record.

CRITERIA FOR REVIEW

The most obviously review-worthy issue presented is the third: whether an evidentiary hearing is required on the question of harmlessness when, following a guilty plea, a reviewing court suppresses a portion of the State's evidence. Published case law answers this question in conflicting ways, rendering this Court's involvement critical under Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r)(d) and *Cook v. Cook*, 208 Wis. 2d 166, 188-89, 560 N.W.2d 246 (1997). The evidentiary hearing question is also a frequently recurring legal issue that warrants review under § 809.62(1r)(a) and (c)3.

But the first two issues presented also merit this Court's attention. Across the country, laws governing juvenile interrogations are evolving as judges and legislatures increasingly recognize that youth are "particularly susceptible to self-incrimination." Kate Bryan, Nat'l Conf. State Legislatures, *Recent State Laws Strengthen Rights of Juveniles During Interrogations* (Jan. 10, 2024), <https://www.ncsl.org/state-legislatures-news/details/recent-state-laws-strengthen-rights-of-juveniles-during-interrogations>. This evolution is rooted in a growing consensus that the law in this realm is often misaligned with developmental science; we now know that "the prefrontal cortex—the region of the brain responsible for reasoning, planning and considering long-term consequences—does not fully develop until age 25," leaving younger subjects at a distinct disadvantage in the interrogation room. *Id.*

In many jurisdictions (including Wisconsin), increased protections for youth subjected to police interrogation have begun to fill the gap between the constitutional principles that have historically governed and the reality that those principles were developed with adults in mind. *See, e.g., State v. Jerrell C.J.*, 2005 WI 105, ¶¶57-58, 283 Wis. 2d 145, 699 N.W.2d 110. But there is work to be done. To continue refining constitutional safeguards in light of children's special vulnerability in the interrogation room, Damian submits that

Wisconsin courts should prioritize publishing decisions that address the thorny but common—and critically important—issues juvenile interrogations so often pose. Damian’s experience, in particular, offers this Court an opportunity to delve into a reasonable 14-year-old’s perceptions about police questioning, the stationhouse, and his own authority to walk away; to address the role that long-term abuse can play in undermining a child’s capacity to resist self-incrimination; and to harmonize the *Miranda* custody and voluntariness inquiries with both common sense and scientific consensus on adolescent brain development and childhood trauma. On these issues, there is no substitute for binding case-by-case analysis. We have almost none.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This petition relates to Damian’s appeal of the denial of his motion to suppress statements made during three police interrogations. The key facts are those surrounding the interrogations. But since the law governing the admissibility of Damian’s statements requires close attention to context, the following summary also covers Damian’s upbringing, Ethan’s death, and the litigation that followed.

I. Damian’s childhood.

Damian lived with his biological parents from birth to about age six, when they divorced. (32:2). Damian, his little sister, and their mother Tina later moved in with Tim. (32:3). Around 2012, when Damian was a young elementary schooler, Tina married Tim. (32:3). Damian’s biological father voluntarily terminated his parental rights, and Tim adopted Damian and his sister. (32:3).

When Damian first moved in with Tim, he stayed in touch with his biological father and paternal grandparents. (32:3). Damian and his sister would take weekend trips to visit them. (32:3). Later, Tim stopped allowing the visits, and the family became estranged. (32:3).

Tim brought other changes to the household, too. (32:6). As Damian put it, Tim was “a little strict.” (32:6). If he or his sister talked back, Tim would put soap in their mouths. (32:6). Other punishments Tim inflicted included forcing his children to “stand outside in the ice and snow ‘with no shoes on ...’ for lengthy periods” (32:6); making them “carry wood for two or more hours ... [even in] ice and snow” (32:7); making them “stand in a corner” for hours (139:4); and having them “kneel on a paint tray on the concrete driveway.” (139:4).

Damian said no one in the home reported the abuse they suffered. (32:7). Had they, he said, “we wouldn’t have a house.” (32:7).

After Damian had lived with Tim for several years, navigating his rules and punishments, the household grew: Tim began fostering two great-nephews and a great-niece. (139:6; Int. 2 at 5:56pm).²

Damian reported that “circumstances within the home became increasingly stressful” when these children moved in. (32:7). In Damian’s view, they “did not readily learn or adapt to ‘Tim’s rules.’” (32:7). As a result, Tim ordered them “to carry wood on 20 occasions or more.” (32:7). One of those occasions was in April 2018.

II. Ethan’s death.

On April 20, 2018, when Damian was 14, he and his seven-year-old foster brothers were ordered to carry wood. (1:2). Damian had, according to Tim, failed to sufficiently memorize 13 Bible verses; the younger boys were in trouble for different infractions. (1:7).

Since Tim and Tina would be out of the house, Tim ordered Damian both to carry wood and to ensure that the younger children carried wood too. (1:2). For Ethan, Tim selected “a heavy wooden log, weighing approximately two-thirds his body weight.” (1:2). Tim

² See *infra* n.2 (explaining this brief’s citations to recordings).

directed the boys to haul their logs “for two hours around a pre-determined path in a wet and snowy area” beside their home. (1:2).

Damian attempted to make Ethan finish this task, but Ethan struggled, and Damian’s enforcement methods escalated. At various points, Damian hit, kicked, and poked Ethan. (1:2). Eventually, as Ethan lay on the ground, Damian and his siblings buried him in heavy snow; Damian believed making Ethan “really cold” would spur him to get up. (1:6).

After a while, Ethan stopped moving. (1:8). Damian “unburied” him, finding him “stiff, statue-like and unresponsive.” (1:8). He then called Tim, reporting that Ethan was “acting like he’s dead.” (1:8-9). Tim and Tina returned home and took Ethan to the emergency room. (1:2). Damian came along, with Ethan draped across his lap in the backseat. (1:2).

At the hospital, Ethan remained unresponsive, “had an extremely low body temperature and had multiple bruises and injuries on his body.” (1:2). He did not survive the night. (1:2) An autopsy showed that Ethan’s “cause of death was hypothermia due to environmental cold exposure,” and that Ethan’s other “significant conditions” were “blunt force injuries.” (1:3).

III. Damian’s four interrogations.

While Ethan was being treated that evening, Damian was interrogated twice: first at the hospital, then at the sheriff’s office. Around 2:45am on April 21st, several hours after Ethan was pronounced dead, Damian was woken up and interrogated a third time, again at the sheriff’s office. Damian was interrogated a fourth time several months later, again at the sheriff’s office, but this time with counsel present.

Details regarding these four interrogations are set forth below (though only the first three are at issue). They come from the testimo-

ny provided at Damian's four-day suppression hearing (*see* 94; 95; 100; 171; App. 32-60), and from the recordings the State submitted before the first day of the suppression hearing (*see* 87).³

A. First interrogation.

Lieutenant Dave Remiker questioned Damian at the hospital not long after the family arrived with Ethan in the early evening on April 20th. (1:6; 94:6). Remiker had already spoken with a detective about Ethan's condition and had learned who was present for the incident that caused it. (94:19-20). He believed "Damian probably had more information than anybody else." (94:19).

Remiker found Damian in the "family room" near the emergency room, where he and his mom were waiting for news about Ethan. (94:11). Remiker asked Damian if he would move to a separate room so they could talk privately, and Damian agreed. (94:12). "Damian was very cooperative" and "made no request to have anybody with him." (94:12).

The two went to a small room "right across the hall." (94:12, 14). Remiker either closed or "slightly closed" the door before questioning Damian. (94:23). He audio recorded their conversation. (94:12-13). He did not provide *Miranda* warnings. (94:21).

³ The first interrogation was audio recorded. It consists of one clip with no date- or timestamps. Citations to this recording reflect the relevant time within the recording. So, "Int. 1 at 4:08" means the statement at issue appears 4 minutes and 8 seconds into the recording of the first interrogation.

The others were video recorded. The recordings consist of multiple clips, each displaying the date and time throughout. Citations to these recordings reflect the time of day at which the relevant statement was made. So, "Int. 2 at 6:01pm" means the statement at issue was made at 6:01pm during the second interrogation.

According to Remiker, Damian was not “handcuffed or restrained,” and Remiker did not arrest him. (94:13). Remiker was wearing street clothes but was “armed with a badge.” (94:24).

The two spoke for 10 minutes. (94:12-14). While Damian’s voice shook—his stress is apparent from the recording—he never asked “to stop talking.” (94:14; *see also, e.g.*, Int. 1 at 1:00, 4:55). He answered Remiker’s questions. He also expressed concern about doing so, saying, “I just hope I didn’t make it any worse.” (Int. 1 at 4:55).

While Damian was cooperative, Remiker pushed him when he claimed ignorance about Ethan’s injuries. “You need to be honest with me,” he prodded, “something happened out there.” (Int. 1 at 0:05). Later, when Damian became distressed, Remiker offered false reassurance to encourage further disclosures: “It’s okay, we’re not getting anybody in trouble, obviously this was an accident, but I need to know specific details.” (Int. 1 at 1:06).

Over the course of the interrogation, Damian confessed that he poked, pushed, swatted, and slapped Ethan in an effort to get him moving. (Int. 1 at 0:31, 1:16-32, 2:19, 2:56). When those efforts didn’t work, Damian said he took Ethan’s boots off and, along with his siblings, buried Ethan in a “coffin of snow.” (Int 1 at 3:45, 3:57-4:10, 4:45).

Remiker expressed shock upon learning that the Hauschultz children had to carry wood for “two hours straight,” and he followed up with an array of questions about what Damian meant by “carrying wood.” (Int. 1 at 5:36-8:05). During this discussion, the recording stops. (Int. 1 at 8:05). Remiker later testified that he’d received a call and that the questioning ended there. (94:21).

B. Second interrogation.

Later that evening, a second law enforcement officer, Detective Christine Bessler, interrogated Damian at the sheriff’s office. (94:47-

50). Beforehand, Bessler went to the hospital and asked Tim for permission. (94:50). Tim “gave verbal consent.” (94:50). She then asked Damian whether he’d “be willing to sit down with” her, and Damian agreed. (94:50). When Bessler told Tim she’d be taking Damian to the sheriff’s office, Tim did not object. (94:52).

Bessler drove Damian from the hospital to the stationhouse in an unmarked police car. (94:52). Bessler testified that she did not believe Damian could open his door once he was inside her car; back doors in police cars generally don’t open from inside. (94:75).

They arrived at the sheriff’s office about five minutes later. (94:53). Bessler brought Damian to an interview room with “couches, lighting, tables.” (94:43). The room has recording equipment, which Bessler turned on. (94:54). It’s also in a secure area: citizens cannot get in unescorted, nor are they free to leave without an escort. (94:71-72).

Questioning began shortly before 6:00pm. (Int. 2 at 5:49pm). Damian was not handcuffed or told he was under arrest. (94:60). Again he wasn’t read his *Miranda* rights. (94:54-55). Bessler did, however, give Damian coffee and tell him he could ask questions or say “he no longer wanted to talk.” (94:55). He drank the coffee. (94:55). He didn’t say he no longer wanted to talk. (94:55).

Early in the interview, Bessler learned that Damian was a middle school student. (94:56-57). She thought he seemed smart. (94:57).

The two spent time clarifying the details of Damian’s household—what the house and yard were like and how the members of the household were related. (Int. 2 at 5:50-6:10pm). Here and later on, Damian described how he and his sister helped supervise their foster siblings (by, for example, getting them on the school bus and enforcing their punishments). (Int. 2 at 6:15pm, 6:21pm, 6:23pm, 6:42pm, 6:52pm). Damian also described his foster siblings’ behavioral problems, including “defiance” at school and at home. (Int. 2 at 6:05-08pm,

6:35-37pm). Damian expressed irritation with the way his life had changed since their arrival. (*See, e.g.*, Int. 2 at 6:19-20pm, 7:01pm).

Bessler's questions eventually moved to Ethan's injuries. (Int. 2 at 6:51pm). Damian again explained that, after Ethan stopped making progress, he and his siblings buried him in snow and left him there while they finished carrying wood. (Int. 2 at 7:02-03pm, 7:07pm). The "point was to get [Ethan] to give up on his 'I'm not moving thing,'" Damian explained, "but at that point we didn't know he was knocked out." (Int. 2 at 7:09pm).

Damian told Bessler that when he realized something was wrong, he called Tim. (Int. 2 at 7:10pm). He told Tim that Ethan was "playing possum." (Int. 2 at 7:12pm). When Tim and Tina got home, Damian said he got freaked out and went to sit outside on the porch with a "'what in the world have I done?' type feeling." (Int. 2 at 7:14pm). Had he known this would happen, Damian said, he would have helped Ethan. (Int. 2 at 7:22pm). At one point, Damian asked: "How can so many things go wrong in two hours?" (Int. 2 at 7:24pm).

While questioning continued, Tim showed up, asked to speak with Damian, and—after a brief conversation—took him away. (94:43-44, 58-60). It was about 8:15pm. Damian's second interrogation had lasted nearly two and a half hours.

C. Third interrogation.

Sometime after 10:00pm (not long after Ethan died), an investigator accompanied child protection social worker Laura Zimbler to the Hauschultz home. (94:37). Zimbler immediately noticed signs of problematic discipline, including a board listing the hours Ethan was required to carry wood. (94:44-45, 50).

Zimbler and the investigator asked Tim and Tina to bring the kids back to the sheriff's office right away. (94:39). They did. (94:39).

There, Damian and his siblings were put in a conference room. (94:62). Over the next several hours, Bessler and Zimbler pulled them out one-by-one and questioned them. (94:62). Damian went last; it was nearly 3:00am when he was woken up. (94:85-86).

The interrogation took place in the same room and was again recorded. (94:36, 65). Damian wasn't Mirandized and wasn't told he was free to leave. (95:26-27).

The substance of Damian's statements overlapped with those he'd made earlier, though he reluctantly offered additional incriminating details. Most notably, he admitted that he twice stepped on Ethan's back, snow boot on, to push him down for a "face wash." (Int. 3 at 3:31-33am). But despite the consistency of Damian's story, the questioning was more intense—as Bessler later acknowledged. (See 94:64, 81).

First, Damian told his interrogators that Tim had instructed him not to speak with police until he talked to a lawyer. (Int. 3 at 2:43am). Damian tried to follow Tim's advice, repeatedly saying he thought he should keep quiet. (Int. 3 at 2:46-49am). But he struggled, making inculpatory statements here and there and expressing confusion about whether he should say more. (See Int. 3 at 2:45-47am, 2:49am, 3:07-08am). The conflict Damian felt is evident throughout the recording. At one point, he verbalizes it, saying: "My brain is confusing itself with what it should do." (Int. 3 at 3:11am).

Second, the interrogators ratcheted up their tactics. A few minutes in, Zimbler screamed, "[Ethan] is dead! How did [Ethan] get dead?!" (Int. 3 at 2:47am). Bessler then accused Damian of not caring that Ethan died. (Int. 3 at 2:47am). A minute later, Zimbler challenged Damian: "You don't think people's lives are a big deal?" (Int. 3 at 2:48am). Bessler referenced her interviews with the other children, saying she had "good information" and just wanted to give Damian

a chance to explain. (Int. 3 at 3:03am). His silence, she said, would make him “take the fall” for Ethan’s death. (Int. 3 at 2:46am).

Third, Damian’s distress was more acute. He repeatedly cried. (See, e.g., Int. 3 at 2:53am, 3:06am). He expressed sadness not just about Ethan’s death, but also about how he’d treated Ethan behaved when Ethan was alive, lamenting, “I never accepted him.” (Int. 3 at 2:57am). Damian said he feels angry all the time—a “burning inside.” (Int. 3 at 2:52am, 2:58am). And he described experiencing, in that moment in the interrogation room, a combination of “anger, confusion, and feeling sorry.” (Int. 3 at 3:11-13am). Finally, Damian articulated regret, telling Bessler: “We could have done something to prevent that from happening.” (Int. 3 at 3:13am).



After over an hour of questioning, Damian’s third interrogation ended. It was 3:45am.

Damian and his siblings remained at the sheriff's office until later that morning, when they were sent to emergency placements outside of Tim's care — and against his wishes. (94:65; 95:38-39, 48-49). Damian went to stay with an uncle. (95:48-49).

D. Fourth interrogation.

Damian's fourth and final interrogation took place months later, back at the sheriff's office, again with Bessler. (94:66). He had counsel this time. (94:66). The interview was in the same room and was recorded. (94:67). Damian was not Mirandized. (94:68).

His attorney, here, was Anthony Nehls. (100:3-4, 7-8). Nehls was appointed by the public defender's office to represent Damian "pre-charge." (100:7). Nehls spoke with the State about the charges Damian might face, and the State said it was considering a Class A homicide. (100:8). The State noted it would be willing to bring a Class B charge in exchange for another debrief. (100:9).

Nehls talked to Damian about avoiding a Class A homicide charge but did not inform him that it carried "a mandatory life sentence." (100:18). Nehls later testified that, before representing Damian, he had "[z]ero" experience with intentional homicide prosecutions. (100:15).

Damian agreed to speak with law enforcement again. (100:9-10). According to Nehls, Damian wasn't "excited" about it but wanted to follow counsel's advice. (100:13-14). For his part, Nehls had doubts about how much Damian had to gain from the debrief but ultimately decided "it was in [Damian's] interest." (100:19-20). Nehls conceded that he made that determination without discovery; his insight into the State's evidence came mostly from Damian's CHIPS file, which the CHIPS lawyer had passed along. (100:23).

Damian's original agreement with the State required only a debrief. (100:21). But at the last minute, the State added a condition: Damian also had to plead guilty to a Class B homicide charge. (100:20-21). If Damian went to trial, the State could bring the Class A charge despite his cooperation. (100:20-21).

Nehls said it made him "a little uncomfortable" that the State added this condition "right before the interview." (100:21-22). He conveyed the change to Damian on the spot, telling him he could avert a Class A homicide charge only by giving the police another statement, with no accompanying offer of immunity, *and* pleading guilty to a Class B homicide. (100:23, 32). Damian "still went forward." (100:23).

Nehls acknowledged that his agreement with the State was merely verbal; the State never reduced its promise, or the conditions thereof, to writing. (100:28).

Once inside the interview room, Bessler asked Damian for a general update and for details about the Bible verses Damian had been required to memorize back in April. (Int. 4 at 2:18pm, 2:43pm). Later, Bessler asked about the frustration Damian had expressed about his foster siblings; Damian explained that they'd aggravated him because they acted "like kids their age." (Int. 4 at 2:34pm).

As the interrogation continued, Bessler asked about other aspects of Damian's family, including his renewed relationship with his biological father and paternal grandparents. (Int. 4 at 2:36-40pm). And she elicited more details about the strain on Damian's family—and Damian himself—following the foster kids' arrival. (Int. 4 at 2:40-43pm). Finally, over half an hour in, they began discussing Ethan's death. Damian reported that his foster sister (Ethan's biological sister) had also hit Ethan, kicked Ethan, and stood on Ethan's head the day he died. (Int. 4 at 2:54-56pm).

Towards the end of the conversation, Nehls prodded Damian to tell Bessler that, while en route to the hospital on April 20th, Tim told Damian not to say anything that would get anyone else in trouble. (Int. 4 at 3:05-09pm). Damian confirmed that Tim said that. (Int. 4 at 3:05-09pm).

Nehls was present throughout. (100:10-11). He considered the interrogation “cordial.” (100:12). When it ended, he and Damian left the sheriff’s office together. (100:11-12).

IV. Damian’s juvenile and criminal cases.

Well before Bessler conducted Damian’s final interrogation, Damian was adjudicated delinquent in connection with Ethan’s death. (32:4). The juvenile court imposed supervision, which Damian successfully completed. (32:4; 139:6). Social worker Rodney Zahn later testified about Damian’s performance on supervision, saying he did very well building anger management skills, “was amenable to treatment, had no drug use, and [had] no new referrals or conflicts.” (58:2, 4). Zahn believed Damian was at a low risk to reoffend. (58:4).

After Damian was discharged from supervision, the State filed a criminal complaint, again in connection with Ethan’s death. (*See* 1). It charged Damian with several felonies, including the Class B homicide promised to Nehls. (1:1). Damian was just 15 years old. (*See* 1:1).

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