FILED
05-10-2024
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

No. 2022AP161-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DAMIAN L. HAUSCHULTZ,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

RESPONSE OPPOSING PETITION FOR REVIEW

JOSHUA L. KAUL
Attorney General of Wisconsin

JACOB J. WITTWER
Assistant Attorney General
State Bar #1041288

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice
Post Office Box 7857
Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857
(608) 266-1606
(608) 294-2907 (Fax)
wittwerjj@doj.state.wi.us

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

ARGUMENT

The court of appeals appropriately rejected Hauschultz’s *Miranda* custody and voluntariness claims, and Hauschultz does not show that his case satisfies criteria for review.

A. The court of appeals fully considered Hauschultz’s youth when it properly determined under the totality of the circumstances that Hauschultz was not in custody in the first two interviews and his statements were voluntary.

Hauschultz asks this Court to take review to address the special role of youth in determining whether a subject is in custody for purposes of *Miranda* and whether the subject’s statements are voluntary: “Binding guidance remains necessary to demonstrate the constitutional significance of an interrogation subject’s youth.” (Pet. 26.) And: “This Court should grant review to clarify the analytical role both childhood trauma and childhood itself should play in a reviewing court’s voluntariness assessment.” (Pet. 30.)

Such binding guidance already exists, and Hauschultz fails to show that clarification is needed. It is well-established that courts must exercise “special caution” in assessing the voluntariness of juvenile statements. *In re Gault*, 387 U.S. 1, 45 (1967); *State v. Jerrell C.J.*, 2005 WI 105, ¶¶ 21, 22, 283 Wis. 2d 145, 699 N.W.2d 110; *see also J.D.B. v. North Carolina*, 564 U.S. 261, 265 (2011) (juvenile’s age “properly informs the *Miranda* custody analysis”).

Here, the court of appeals expressly recognized its duty to apply “special caution” because of Hauschultz’s age when considering the *Miranda* custody and voluntariness issues. (Pet-App. 19.) The court then addressed Hauschultz’s youth as the first factor in its analysis, noting that “courts have long recognized the importance of age in determining both whether a person is in custody . . . and whether a confession is voluntary,” citing *Jerrell C.J.* (Pet-App. 18.) The court recognized that “Hauschultz’s age is a factor weighing both in favor of a determination of custody and against a determination of voluntariness.” (Pet-App. 18–19.)

But the court then weighed all the factors together, and it concluded that “the first and second interviews lacked the degree of coerciveness” to require *Miranda* warnings, “even in light of Hauschultz’s age.” (Pet-App. 19.) By contrast, Hauschultz’s position regarding the custody and voluntariness issues starts and ends with his age.

Hauschultz ignores his other personal characteristics that tend *not* to support his claims, like his plainly demonstrated intelligence:

[Hauschultz] told [the detective] he was in accelerated math and English. He was expecting to attend college to be a petroleum engineer, which he told [the detective] would require four years of learning about mechanical engineering, mathematics, chemistry—matters Hauschultz described as “tedious stuff.” We agree with the circuit court that Hauschultz’s “intelligence is apparent when he speaks in these interviews.”

(Pet-App. 20.)

Further, as the court of appeals noted, Hauschultz, despite his youth, did “not appear . . . [to be] particularly susceptible to coercion”; Hauschultz told the detective that the situation was “ironic” because he had just completed a social studies unit on constitutional rights. (Pet-App. 20.) And, as the circuit court found, Hauschultz “did not appear

confused or have difficulty understanding what was going on,” and he “spoke freely and fluently with everyone who interviewed him.” (Pet-App. 20.)

Hauschultz’s intelligence and other personal factors demonstrating capability distinguishes him from other juveniles who, nevertheless, made statements deemed to be voluntary. *See State v. Moore*, 2015 WI 54, ¶¶ 58–61, 363 Wis.2d 376, 864 N.W.2d 827 (15-year-old’s confession voluntary despite his “below-average intellect”); *Dassey v. Dittmann*, 877 F.3d 297, 310, 312 (7th Cir. 2017) (*en banc*) (upholding state court’s determination that 16-year-old’s confession was voluntary despite “an IQ level in the low average to borderline range”).

Accounting for all of Hauschultz’s personal characteristics, including his youth, the court of appeals reached the correct result in concluding that Hauschultz was not in custody for purposes of *Miranda* in the first and second interviews. As to the first interview, Hauschultz and his mother consented to the interview; it was conducted in a room across the hall from the family room in the hospital; the door was not locked; the officer was in street clothes; the officer was conducting initial interviews to gather more information about what happened; and the interview lasted eight minutes. (Pet-App. 21–22.) As to the second interview, while it lasted two and one-half hours and occurred at the sheriff’s department, Timothy and Hauschultz consented for Hauschultz to be interviewed there, the station was nearby, Hauschultz was transported in an unmarked vehicle, and he was never restrained. (Pet-App. 24–25.) The interview room was furnished like a living room, Hauschultz sat on a couch next to the door, and Hauschultz told the detective he did not care if the interview room door was open or closed. Moreover, consistent with the circuit court’s factual findings, “the atmosphere was relaxed and comfortable” and “the questioning was conversational.” (Pet-App. 26.) Hauschultz

was told he could terminate the interview and leave at any time, and he did so when his family arrived. (Pet-App. 26.)

Likewise, accounting again for *all* of Hauschultz's personal characteristics, the court of appeals also correctly concluded that Hauschultz's statements in the first and second interviews were voluntary. The court properly found that there was nothing coercive about the tactics used by the lieutenant in the first interview and the detective in the second. (Pet-App. 22–23, 26–27.) As the court of appeals noted, the cases on which Hauschultz relied in arguing that his statements were involuntary were plainly unlike his own case.

For example, Hauschultz cited *Jerrell C.J.* in arguing that his separation from his mother rendered his statement coerced. (Pet-App. 22.) But in *Jerrell C.J.*, 283 Wis. 2d 145, ¶¶ 10–11, law enforcement refused to allow the juvenile subject to call his parents during a five-hour interrogation, and they repeatedly accused him of lying. Here, Hauschultz's mother and stepfather consented to each of the interviews here. “[T]he atmosphere was relaxed and comfortable,” and “the questioning was conversational.” (Pet-App. 26.) And the detective advised Hauschultz he was free to end the interview at any time, and she kept that promise when his family arrived and Hauschultz left.

In sum, the circuit court and the court of appeals properly concluded that, in the first two interviews, Hauschultz was not in custody for purposes of *Miranda*, and his statements were voluntary under the totality of the circumstances, accounting for all of Hauschultz's personal characteristics, including his youth. Hauschultz's arguments—and those of amici Juvenile Law Center, et. al—focus on Hauschultz's youth to the exclusion of all else and make little attempt to engage the full circumstances bearing on the *Miranda* custody and voluntariness analyses.

B. The court of appeals properly concluded that any error in denying suppression of the third interview statements was harmless, and its treatment of the harmless error issue does not merit review.

Hauschultz discusses the early-morning third interview at length, describing the more confrontational tone of the officers and Hauschultz's own emotional upset during this interview. (Pet. 13–15.) By this time, Ethan had died, and the investigation had taken on greater urgency. The screenshot in the petition showing Hauschultz in apparent distress is taken from this third interview. (Pet. 15.)

As noted, the court of appeals acknowledged the changed circumstances and the officers' more aggressive tone in the third interview, and it assumed without deciding that Hauschultz was in *Miranda* custody for this interview and that his statements were not voluntary. To be clear, the State does not concede that Hauschultz was in *Miranda* custody or that his statements were compelled. But the court of appeals' conclusion that any error in admitting these statements was harmless was also correct, and the manner in which the court applied harmless error was proper and does not, itself, provide grounds for review.

As the court noted, "harmless error is the appropriate test to use when a defendant has entered a guilty plea but prevailed on only a portion of the suppression issues he or she raised on appeal." (Pet-App. 29.) Citing *State v. Semrau*, 2000 WI App 54, ¶ 21, 233 Wis. 2d 508, 608 N.W.2d 376, the court observed: "Admitting statements in violation of *Miranda* is harmless error if there is no reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the conviction." (Pet-App. 29.)

Applying this well-established standard the court stated, "We easily conclude the harmless error standard is satisfied in this case." (Pet-App. 29.) "Hauschultz was extremely reluctant to speak during the third interview,

having been advised by Timothy that it was not in his interest to do so. What little relevant information Hauschultz did offer,” the court continued, “was almost completely duplicative of the information he had presented during the earlier interviews.” (Pet-App. 30.)

Under these circumstances, the court concluded that it had “difficulty identifying any new information that came during the third interview, let alone any information that would have had a bearing on Hauschultz’s decision to plead guilty had he known of its inadmissibility.” (Pet-App. 30.) The court noted that Hauschultz’s himself acknowledged the “overlap[]” between his statements in the third interview and the prior interviews, and his identification of only one bit of new information—an admission that “he had stepped on Ethan while he was giving him a ‘facewash.’” (Pet-App. 30.) The court of appeals’ application of harmless error was appropriate and correct under these circumstances.

Hauschultz argues that “[t]he most obviously review-worthy issue [is] . . . whether an evidentiary hearing is required on the question of harmlessness when, following a guilty plea, a reviewing court suppresses a portion of the State’s evidence.” (Pet. 6.) Hauschultz then asserts that case law “answers this question in conflicting ways,” asserting this Court should take review to resolve the conflict. (Pet. 6.) The State disagrees.

Hauschultz does not show why, in his case, remand would be necessary or appropriate to decide the issue of harmless error. No additional proceedings or factual findings are required; Hauschultz does not appear to contest that his statements in the third interview are duplicative of those in the first two interviews. Under these circumstances, the court of appeals properly determined that there is no reasonable probability that Hauschultz would have decided to go to trial if he had known that evidence that was merely duplicative of other, admissible evidence would be suppressed.

These circumstances are very different from those in *State v. Rejholec*, 2021 WI App 45, ¶ 35 n.14, 398 Wis. 2d 729, 963 N.W.2d 121, the case on which Hauschultz relies in arguing that a conflict of law exists for this Court to resolve. There, all of Rejholec's statements made after a certain point in the interview were deemed obtained in violation of *Miranda*. *Rejholec*, 398 Wis. 2d 729, ¶ 35. Unlike here, harmless error was not apparent on the existing record in Rejholec's case. Remand to the circuit court thus allowed the State the opportunity to prove harmless error—that, regardless the erroneous admission of inculpatory statements, there was no doubt Rejholec would have still entered his pleas—in additional proceedings as necessary. *See id.* ¶ 35 n.14.

In sum, Hauschultz attempts to manufacture a conflict in the law where none exists. The court of appeals' application of harmless error was appropriate in this case.

CONCLUSION

The petition should be denied.